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Foreword

The realisation of this publication which documents the history of a building but of
more importance, the history of a Community now lost to Sligo is to be welcomed.
In the past when students came to the Library seeking information on the history of
the congregation or the building they tended to leave disappointed on discovering that
there were no resources or history of either.

A chance meeting over 20 years ago with a member of the church resulted in the
acquisition of a priceless archive of material for Sligo Library's local studies collection. The
Independent Congregational Church Archive documents the day to day administration
of the church and its ministry along with insights into the history of Sligo.

Likewise the recent visit of Rev. Dr Peter C. Humphries to Sligo completed the
circle. Dr Humphries, who over the years has written extensively on the history of
the Independent Congregational Churches, was approached to undertake the task to
write the history of the Sligo Congregational Church utilising the archive collection.
He agreed without hesitation.

In Dr Humphries Sligo Library service had secured an author who not only had the
empathy and insight of the subject matter but also was able to take the primary sources
and distil the information into a readable and accurate history.

| congratulate Rev. Dr. Humphries on his work. | am certain that as the body of local
history publications increases over the coming years, many based upon Sligo Library’s
local studies collection, that with the willingness, ability and effort of local historians
to delve into local history primary sources, we will continue to colour in the various
pictures of Sligo’s past.

Donal Tinney

County Librarian
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Introduction

This short study of the Congregational Church building in Sligo was written to support
the Library staff and enquiring visitors by writing a brief, but hopefully, interesting
story of the life of this lovely old building, before it became the County Library some
years ago. Because | had previously done a similar study of Kilmainham Congregational
Church, in Dublin, and my home city of Liverpool which was published in 2018, |
happily offered to sketch out what turned out to be a fascinating story of a small part
of Sligo’s history which would easily be overlooked.

Often old papers relating to churches, that are no longer with us, are too often thrown
away. However, in this case, though incomplete, much valuable archived material is
carefully held at the County Library. Of course, with most church records, they
are fragmentary, especially in the earlier years, e.g. pre-1850s. | am indebted to the
County Library, and especially Dénal Tinney (County Librarian) and Michele Cashman
(Librarian, Local Studies), for their great patience in dealing with my enquiries to
piece together a ‘living’ story. If you would like to find out more, especially with
regard to Congregational/Independent churches more generally, do drop me a line at
sligocongregational@gmail.com. | have left the details | used in the short bibliography
at the end of this booklet, as well as a list of ministers who served Sligo and its cause.
| hope you enjoy the story, with my best wishes,

Peter

Rev. Dr. Peter C. Humphreys, B.A. (Hons.), M.A,,
Ph.D., Lic. Theol., M.Th. (Church History).

Author

After studying at the Universities of Liverpool, Reading and University College London, as well as over
30 years work as a senior professional researcher for the Irish and British Governments, my career has
been foreshortened by a serious, long-term medical condition. Since then though, | have completed
undergraduate and postgraduates’ degrees in Theology and Church History, with the University of
Wales (Lampeter). | am a preacher at, and member of, the Wavertree Congregational Church in
Liverpool but have lived in Ireland, with my wife and family, for over 30 years. | was Deputy Pastor

at Kilmainham Congregational Church up to its closure. We both now worship locally at Rathgar
Methodist Church (Dublin).
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Figure 1

N AFFECTIONATE SEMEMBRANCE
OF THE
REV" NOBLE SHEPPERD
FOR 40 YFANS THE BEZLOVED [ iSTOR
OF THE CI'URCH AND CONGRECATION
WORSHIPPING IN THIS SANCTUARY
WHICH, WITH THE ADJOINING MANSE.
WAS ERECTED THROUCH HIS EXERTIONS.

OBIT 15 AUC.IB7S.

Figure 2

IN LOVING MEMORY
OF
THOMAS REED WILSON,
WHO FOR 40 YEARS
TAUGHT IN THE SUNDAY SCHOOL HERE;
AND FOR 31 YEARS FAITHFULLY SERVED
THIS CHURCH IN THE OFFICE OF A DEACON:

BORN MAY G,1829;
CALLED HOME AUG:[4,i8896.

THIS TABLET IS ERECTED
BY THE CHURCH AND CONCRECATION,
AS A TOKEN OF GRATITUDE AND ESTEEM.

2.Tiu. 4,7 & 8,
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The Story of Sligo Congregational

Church (1780-1939)
LEARNING FROM THE PAST INFORMS OUR FUTURE

How many of us, walking, cycling or driving along Stephen Street today (maybe slowly
in a traffic jam!) wonder why the County Library is in what looks like an old church?
Perhaps you wonder a bit more, when inside the Library, about the people mentioned
on the memorials on the wall; who were they and what was a Congregational Church
anyway?! Well, if you bear with me in this short story, | will do my best to answer
these questions and also to tell you an important part of the social history of Sligo
that is not well known.

Going back nearly 400 years, Wood-Martin (1889), in his detailed history of Sligo, tells
us that back in 1660, a minister of St. John's Church (Church of Ireland) was evicted
from his post because he did not agree with how the church was being run and having
to use only the one approved Prayer Book'. Some of the congregation followed him
but the ‘independent church’ they formed does not seem to have lived long. Things
did, however, take a positive turn with the arrival in Sligo in 1780 of a Scottish linen
merchant called Andrew Maiban who decided to begin a simple religious service
with a few like-minded folk?. He was probably used to such independent churches
in Scotland. Such churches are independent of any church hierarchy, quite like the
Quakers (Society of Friends), and seek to live to their Christian principles. The efforts
of Mr. Maiban bore fruit.

During the early years, a local man named Albert Blest worked very hard to keep
the new cause going. Indeed, during the 1798 Rebellion, while the major battle at
Collooney resulted in the French diverting away from Sligo, Albert Blest rallied and led
the remaining 300 males in the town to form barricades to hold up the feared ‘invasion’
should it have overcome the regular troops! In those days, | suppose skill with a musket
was a useful addition to the duties of the church deacon! A change from mending
the roof anyway!! In 1791, there were enough members to find somewhere to meet
on Sundays, with the help of funds from a lady called the Countess of Huntingdon’.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Many ministers were evicted, at this time, from their parishes and became ‘Dissenters’ or ‘Non-conformists.
At that time, the Independent or Congregational tradition was growing strongly across the Irish Sea as well as
in North America, when people came together for Christian worship, they, rather than any *building, are the
‘church’. A deacon is someone who helps keep the fellowship going. They are elected every five years or so by
the congregation.

This lady, whose real name was Selina Hastings, put her lite’s work into training Methodist and Indupcndtnt

preachers to new causes in England, Ireland and Wales.
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The original building was called ‘Union Chapel, it was located on Harmony Hill* and
could accommodate up to 400 people for worship. Several student pastors came to
Sligo but none stayed any length of time, partly because of the apparent ‘remoteness’
of the location and partly because the small congregation could not see that the
students offering to become church pastor had the qualities necessary to make a go
of it>. In 1801, Rev. Claudius Morrison was appointed, as their first settled preacher,
and remained so for ten years, until his health failed. Following Morrison, a preacher
was called and accepted, straight out of college. He was to become very-well known
throughout Ireland and Britain for many years. He was Rev. William Urwick®. In his
letters, he speaks of first impressions, and how hazardous the journey was crossing
the Menai Straights to Anglesey by small boat and then by a sailing sloop “with but
scant accommodation” in heavy winds to Dublin. This was then followed by a two-
day journey “across bleak and boggy country” to Sligo. He wasn't though a man easily
discouraged because he ministered for 10 years here in Sligo and a further 40 years
in Dublin, as minister at York Street (just off Stephen’s Green).
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When he was ordained as Minister in
1816, “the chapel was crowded to excess.
There never was such a thing known in
Sligo before.” Although described as an
‘obscure building', the church provided a
basis for many activities and growth. Dr.
Urwick was not a man to avoid open
and lively discussion. He held a two-day
debate with the local Catholic priests in
Easky and elsewhere. In truth though, it is
difficult to know if such discussions helped
or hindered understanding between
the two traditions. During Dr Urwick’s
ministry, two very respected and trusted
missionaries, Jeremiah  Murray and
Thomas Jordon, worked extremely hard,
up and down the western coast, often
using the Irish language. Understandably
though, there was a real sense of rejection amongst Sligo members when Urwick
responded to a call from the York Street Church in Dublin. At that time, York Street
was regarded as the premier Congregational Church on the island of Ireland.
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A list of ministers at Sligo Church is given at the end of the booklet.
Together with Urwick, who graduated at the Hoxton Academy (London), were John Burnett (Cork) and

Charles Townley (Limerick), who were ordained in the same year.
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However, Sligo did not give up and the subsequent ministers, especially Rev. E.H. Noble’
and then Rev. Noble Shepperd,? continued to minister to the church through unforeseen
tragedies. Mr. Shepperd had spent the first seven years of his ministry in Newry and that
experience was invaluable in the 40 years of ministry he now started at Sligo.

One of the huge tasks that Mr. Sheppard undertook was the raising and distribution
of funds across Ireland to relieve suffering caused by potato famine, poverty and fever
that went with it. Looking back over the early 19th century, and indeed every century
before, Sligo suffered from pestilence, famine and emigration’. Its openness as a port may
not have helped with sailors coming from many directions. For example, smallpox had
ravaged the population in 1816 and 1817. In 1822, the area was hit by a ‘pestilence’ that
debilitated the place. Indeed, potato failures were also frequent, as in 1802, 1812, 1816,
1817 and 1821. However, these events were of little preparation for what was to follow:
the absolute horror of the Great Famine in Sligo. Overall, the population of the County
fell by a third between 1841 and 1851 from 180,886 to 128,500 from starvation, fever
and emigration’. Between 1841 and 1851, an estimated 34,190 emigrants sailed from
Sligo, often to Canada and to a lesser extent the United States of America (USA). Data
from these times have to be treated with a degree of caution but, between 1847 and
1851, 24,557 passengers sailed in 162 vessels from Sligo and adjoining counties. Over the
period 1846-1848, a total of nearly £9.5 thousands was collected, from Congregational
and other churches, throughout the United Kingdom (UK), for famine relief across the
32 Counties. The funds were sent out from Union Chapel (Sligo) to local churches to
distribute according to greatest need.

It is simply impossible to know, with absolute certainty; the extent that all these funds
were administered fairly, at local level, but what can be sure is that the efforts of Union
Chapel were sincere''. Having said that, the many accounts of the behaviour of local
landlords, including Lord Palmerston (Cliffoney Estate) and Sir Rupert Gore-Booth
(Lissadell Estate), both members of the Church of Ireland, that sought the opportunity to
evict tenants in order to exploit their estates more effectively. Victims of such treatment
had to endure unspeakable distress, homelessness, poverty and exposure to the spread

of malignant fevers.

Mr. Noble stayed for four years, after graduating from the Dublin Academy, and was very helpful in the
immediate post-Urwick years.

You might like to look at the memorial stone on the church/library wall which expresses the gratitude of the
congregation for the 40 years of Mr. Shepperd’s ministry in 1875. See Fig. 1 p. 5. There is a similar plaque to
Thomas Reed Wilson who served as a Sunday school teacher and Deacon for 40 years. See Fig. 2 p. 5.

7 See Wood-Martin, W.G. (1892).

' There are many accounts of the Great Hunger in Ireland. For specifically Sligo centred studies see Wood-
Martin, W.G. (1892) and Cuimbneachdn an Ghorta Mhéir: Co. Sligo Commemoration of The Great Irish
Famine: Sligo, July 27, 1997.

" There is a wealth of material nddrcssing the issue of ‘souperism;, which is hr.::.rnncl this small scudy. Although

quite old now, I have always tound Bowen (1970) helptul, especially pp. 183-212.
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In reflecting upon the victims of such policies, it must be remembered that, whilst a
minority, non-Catholic tenants endured this ‘Shoveling Out’ treatment too.

On a brighter note, in 1850 under the leadership of Noble Shepperd, the foundation
stone was laid for a new church building, rectory and school room here on Stephen
Street'”. This was a new stage in the life of Congregationalists in Sligo™®. This reflected
also the activities of the port, improved buildings in the town for grain, lively markets
and so on. A well-built set of buildings, prominently placed on a major road in town;
aspirations were high as to the congregation growing. To add to his commitments
and support for positive developments in Sligo, “the Rev. Noble Shepperd, Minister of
the Congregational Church, Stephen Street, was one of the most prominent library
campaigners at the time and ninety years later his very building was to become the final
home of the library” (Michael Moran, Sligo Champion 05.12.1980, page 20).

n 1859, an Evangelical Revival was especially strong in Ulster but Sligo was also affected.
t was a major but inevitable blow, when Mr Shepperd passed away. His contribution
was acknowledged by the tablet still evident in the Library (Figure 1). Likewise, there is
a wall plaque devoted to Thomas Reed Wilson, who served as Sunday School leader for

"2 In 1846, in Sligo, the church school was converted into a Ragged School, supplying the children with food.
After the Great Famine, the school was re-established until the opening of the Medel School.
' In both Dublin and Liverpool, the period from 1850-1899 was often the most fruittul in the history of

Congregationalism (see Humphreys 2015 and 2016).
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40 years and 31 years as a Church Deacon (Figure 2). Such voluntary church workers
were essential for the continuation of the fellowship and all it did. Between 1868 and
1910, twelve weddings took place, as recorded by the Marriage Register. The Baptismal
Register (1852-1906) shows that 90 baptisms took place in the church. The small
number of marriages may well, in part at least, reflect the impact of Ne Temere (1906),
requiring both parties to be married in the Roman Catholic faith and to bring up any
children thus.

After a brief vacancy, Rev. James Stirling was appointed in 1875 and kept the cause going
well for nine years before moving on to Scotland. In 1881, at the Annual Meeting of the
Congregational Union of Ireland, the Rev. John White expressed concern about “The
frequent changes and long vacancies in Pastorates ... cause us to lose every year many
that, not from choice, but necessity go to other churches”. In 1885, Rev. H. E. Bennett
was selected and served for a further seven years before moving on to London. Next
was Rev. William Newman Hall who served the church well and at difficult times™.
During Newman Hall's ministry, the church had experienced hostile attacks by ‘rowdy
mobs’, with which the local Constabulary were initially reluctant to engage. Such a mob
attacked the church building severely with stones that broke windows, damaged the
organ within, as well as the houses of members of the congregation. It was assumed
that, because the church had begun to commence street preaching outside, an extreme
reaction resulted, from a small number of ruffians. Sligo was not alone in experiencing
such hostilities. In the late 1870s onward, there was recorded evidence of hostility
growing towards the non-Catholic churches and their people™. After serving the Sligo
congregation for four years, he moved to the safer surroundings of York Street (Dublin).
The duration of ministry by individual preachers began to shorten. In 1897, Rev. W.E.
Ireland commenced his ministry but church members had already begun to decline to
41 at the turn of the century. He left to return to England in 1904. The last permanent
and committed pastor was the Rev. Gordan MaclLachan. He served the fellowship with
considerable devotion for 18 years, until he returned to Scotland in 1922. By now,
declining numbers had an adverse effect upon church resources. The Manuscript Records
of Income and Expenditure (1912-1933) record both slowly declining income and pew
rents, together with increasing repair needs as the church buildings became significantly
older. The records for April 19, 1912 give a good indication of the seemingly never-
ending need for resources. These include repairing gas pipe, timing the organ, work in
the manse, Poor Rates, Fire Insurance, Employers Liability, the Borough Rate, Waste

" Newman Hall evencually moved on to serve York Screet (Dublin) as pastor.
: p

®  Rev. Hall repeated the basic Constitution of Congregationalism, in cfforts to attract new members. "As a
Congregational Church, it knows no ecclesiastical authority outside itself but regards the Lord Jesus Christ
as its immediare Head and ever-present Lord. It elects its own officers, determines its own mode of worship,
regards the Word of God (the Holy Bible) as its only statute book and welcomes Members all who love the

Lord Jesus Christ in sincerity.”
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Rate and Technical Insurance and Pulpit supply. Records of members emigrating to
Australia, Canada, New Zealand, South Africa and the USA continue to reduce the

active membership.

There is often a wide-spread belief that all Protestants were rich and associated with
the ruling, ascendency figures, largely in the Church of Ireland. That was not true when
it came to Methodists, Quakers, Congregationalists, Presbyterians, Brethren and so
on. The 1911 Census of Population shows some helpful and interesting details of the
occupations of the Sligo Congregational church members. These included farmers,
draper and grocers' assistants, a dress-maker, bakers and confectioners, commercial
clerks, solicitors’ clerks, school teachers, clerk of Petty Sessions, a post-mistress, a
surgeon and apothecary, an Income Tax surveyor, a brick-burner, a master book binder
and umbrella-maker, a drapers’ merchant, a Custom and Excise officer, a nurse and
domestic servant. Many of these came to work in Sligo from England and Scotland,
but it is important to note that the 1911 Census indicated that some members were
born and reared locally. It is important to remember that some members travelled for
worship from Ballincar, Coolaney and Tobercurry.

The Story of Sligo Congregational Church (1780-1939). Learming from the past informs our future




Sadly, after the move of Mr. MaclLachan, there was no continuous ministry in Sligo. The
congregation was served, as and when, by ministers from the Congregational Union
when it could. Ageing members found it increasingly difficult to keep attending. The
issue of ‘rotating’ ministers was a common problem that has been identified in other
studies and leaves the remaining congregation beginning to wonder about the future’®.
For younger members, the problem of finding a partner who shared their Protestant
faith was becoming near impossible. The establishment of the Free State also led to the
departure of many, who otherwise would have stayed. Slowly, the incidence of services

diminished during the 1930s.

The history of the change of ownership from the Congregational Church to Sligo
County Council Library is interesting in itself. As the population grew, and with it the
demands upon the Library Service, the various accommodations and facilities acquired
by the Council over time became limiting in meeting the library services needed by
the population. It also became evident that the fine buildings in Stephen Street were
scarcely used for their original purpose In May 1940, initial enquiries were made by
the Council regarding the potential purchase or renting of the Congregational Church
for its purposes as a County Library. Six years later, when the property came on the
market, the Council expressed its interest in buying the property but were extremely
disappointed when a local property syndicate stepped in and purchased the building.
However, they were unable to get planning permission from the Council for what they
wanted to build. Sligo County Council then purchased the building and the library
moved in to the former Church in 1952". The former Manse, adjacent to the church
building, was converted into the Sligo County Museum and opened in 1955.

So now, as we pass by or come to use the Library for some of its many services, do spare
a thought for those that have gone before and, most importantly, the opportunities that
knowledge gives to the young and not so young, like myself. | like to think that Rev.
Noble Shepperd would have been pleased that the church is still a community building,
where all are welcome and all can find joy, passion and intellectual fulfilment amongst
its shelves.

| wish you happy reading, Rev. Dr. Peter Humphreys.

16 See Humphreys 2014, 2015 and 2018.

7" See Moran 1980 for a more thorough account of these and earlier Library developments.
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A PROVISIONAL LIST OF MINISTERS
AT SLIGO CHURCH (1780-1939)

1780 — 1790

1791 — 1800

1801 — 1810

1816 — 1826

1826 - 1830
1830 — 1870
1875 — 1884
1885 — 1892
1892 — 1897
1897 — 1904
1904 — 1922

1925 - 1939

Mr. Andrew Maiban and
Mr. Albert Best - Lay Preachers

Student Placements —
funded by Countess of Huntingdon

Rev. Claudius Morrison

Rev. Dr. Urwick, plus Jeremiah Murray
and Thomas Jordan (Missionaries)

Rev. E. H. Noble

Rev. Noble Sheppard

Rev. James Stirling

Rev. H. E. Bennett

Rev. William Newman Hall
Rev. W. E. Ireland

Rev. Gordan MacLachan

Independent Preachers/Pulpit Supply
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“Finally to end as | as | began “The Press also played their part in

on a historical note, one of the the campaign for the library and the
pioneers of the public library trade committee also put renewed :
movement in Sligo in the early effort into the campaign. Ironically

1 87&’5, was the Rev. Noble _ the Rev. Noble Shepperd, Minister of
Shebberd who was Minisﬁﬂr the Congregational Church, Stephen
X . ‘- .r;**_-f" 9 - Stree;! was one ﬂf the most pl"OﬂﬁﬂEﬂt
P S paigners at the time. Ninety years
- - _'_ E

ﬁmer Sliga Congregational Church, Stephen St, Sligo
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